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St. John’s Lutheran Church  (330 Ferry St.)

Original town Lot Nos. 179 and 180, as surveyed by William Parsons when Easton was established in 1752, were used as the Lutheran congregation’s burial site while it participated in the Revolutionary War era German Union Church on North 3rd Street with the German Reformed congregation.  In 1802, when formal title to the church property was obtained by the two congregations, title was also obtained to the Lutheran burial ground (as well as the German Reformed burial area where the public library now stands) in trust for its continued use in that fashion.
  


In the early 19th Century, relations between the Lutheran and German Reformed congregations sharing the Revolutionary War era “Union Church” on North Third Street became strained, among other things over rights of burial in the two congregations’ separate burial plots.
  In 1811, an arbitration commission was established by the two churches to separate the two burial plots;  the arbitrators agreed that those who were already buried in the “other” church’s burial plot could be left where they were.
  This laid the groundwork for separating the two congregations. A clarifying deed was immediately obtained from the Penn Family to confirm that the burial ground land could now be used for “a House of Religious Worship and a Schoolhouse . . . and Parsinage and such other Buildings for the Convenience and Accommodation” of the church, provided that the “greater Part” was still held as a burial ground.
  In 1817, they began selling off portions of their parsonage property on Northampton and South 2nd Streets to raise money for the new church.
  Additional money was obtained through a settlement with the German Reformed Congregation.
  Finally in 1831, the Lutheran congregation built their own federal-style church on Ferry Street between Third and Fourth Streets,
 which was consecrated on 1 January 1832.
  
· Although the new church was not originally designed with a steeple, a special collection was taken up for one, and it was also erected as part of the new church in 1831.  The steeple was especially complimented in the local newspaper as “something to show strangers at a distance.”
  It is presumably no accident that the German Reformed Church, which the Lutherans had just left, erected their own prominent steeple in the following year.  In 1886, the Lutherans replaced the original St. John’s steeple with the present one.
   
· A crypt in the basement of the Church contains the gravestones of early Easton citizens – including Christian Bixler XE "Bixler, Christian"  III, a Revolutionary War soldier, jeweler and clockmaker who established the oldest jewelry store in the United States, until recently operating in Centre Square.
  Opinions differ as to whether Mr. Bixler’s body is still located in the crypt.  

In 1843, some members of the congregation asked to worship on alternate Sundays with a different Pastor than Rev. John Peter Hecht (a “distinguished orator” who had been at St. John’s since 1815).  When the request was refused, they formed the separate Lutheran congregation of Christ Church, under a new Pastor.
  The two congregations did not reunite after Dr. Hecht’s departure.
    


In 1846-47, a new parsonage was built next door to St. John’s Church, at the corner of Bank and Ferry Streets.  With expansions and renovations, this is the same parsonage that stands to this day.
  It is a 3-story, 5-bay building in the “Italianate” style,
 with slightly curved projecting cornices over the windows on the second floor and a bracketed roof cornice, as well as a front porch running the width of the building.  It appears to stand on land that was originally part of town Lot Nos. 177 and 178, which had been formally acquired from the Penn Family by Frederick Wilhelm in 1816 for £137, “which premises the said Frederick Wilhelm alleges to be in his possession and that he is the rightful owner of the same.”
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In 1860, an assistant Pastor was added to serve the German-speaking portion of the congregation (whose numbers were increased by heavy German immigration during the 19th Century).  In 1868, in order to raise funds to start a separate German-speaking church, it was resolved to sell the rear portion of the graveyard “adjoining the Church on the west” (next to 4th Street).  The sale was completed to the Borough School Board
 in 1870.
 The bodies buried in that rear portion were removed and re-interred,
 including Easton’s “Merchant Prince” Peter Miller.  His body was moved by St. John’s to another plot behind the Sunday School on ground retained by the church, as a special mark of respect because of the large bequest given in Miller’s will to the Church’s Female Benevolent Society.
  

In 1871, the School Board laid the corner stone for Easton’s Taylor School on the rear portion of the former graveyard, and the school opened in 1873.
  It was an elaborate, 2 ½ story brownstone building with Mansard top half story in the “Second Empire” style popular when it was built, edged in Ohio white stone, said to be “considered one of the most magnificent schools in Pennsylvania.”
  It was named for George Taylor, the Easton resident who had signed the Declaration of Independence, and who had been buried in the Lutheran cemetery before the school replaced it.  An Italian marble monument to Taylor had been erected in Easton Cemetery in 1854, with funds obtained when “grand entertainment” commemorating the extension of the railroad to Phillipsburg was oversubscribed;  so in 1870, in preparation for the school displacing his grave, his body was removed to the side of that monument in Easton Cemetery.  The new school was called the “Taylor Building”,
 and has been referred to since as the “Taylor School”.  The school was demolished in 1962,
 and today the area once again serves St. John’s Lutheran Church, now as the rear part of the church parking lot.  
· From the proceeds of the 1870 land sale, the Reformed Dutch Church at 26 North 5th Street (at the corner of Church Street, opposite the present Library building) was acquired and renovated to become the separate Zion Evangelical Lutheran Church for German-speaking Lutherans.
  That Lutheran congregation re-united with St. John’s in 1962, and its 5th Street church building became the Rock Church in 1981.
  
St. John’s Parish House was added in 1909-10.
 

In 1962, the Taylor School had become abandoned, and was available for purchase from the Board of Education.  St. John’s gave the highest offering price to reacquire the land, but the Board of Education preferred instead a lower bid from Rocks Construction, Inc. of Maryland, which wanted to build apartments.  The reason was that Rocks Construction, as a commercial company, would have been fully subject to taxes in the future, while the Church was tax exempt.  Easton’s Mayor proposed instead to sell the Church land behind it that had been seized by urban renewal projects, and to leave the more “prime” real estate with a tax-paying entity.  After a conference, the dispute was resolved when Rocks Construction withdrew its offer and instead announced that it would purchase Mount Jefferson in order to build a high-rise luxery apartment there.  This cleared the way for the Church to repurchase the land at the corner.
   

� 	Deed, John Penn and Richard Penn to Peter Snyder, et al., Trustees for German Reformed Congregation fo Easton, and Jacob Weygandt, et al., Trustees for Lutheran Congregation of Easton, G2  402 (23 June 1802)($10 sale price).  Original town Lot Nos.70 and 72 were included “on which Lots the said congregations have erected a church and School house”, in trust as a “seite for the church”.  Also included were original town Lot Nos.179 and 180 (on Ferry Street) and a large property North of what is now Church Street between 5th and 6th Streets (where the public library now stands) in trust “as Burial Places”.  


� 	Barbara Fretz Kempton, A History of St. John’s Evangelical Lutheran Congregation of Easton, Pennsylvania 1740-1940 44, 47-49 (The John S. Correll Co., Inc. 1940).  


� 	Agreement, German Reformed Congregation of Easton and German Evangelical Lutheran Congregation of Easton, G3  319 (12 Aug. 1811)(agreement to arbitrate, with decision dated 29 Jan. 1812 annexed).  


� 	Deed, Penn Family to German Evangelical Lutheran Congregation of Easton, H3  70 (3 June 1812)(sale price $1 for Lot Nos.179 and 180).  


� 	See separate www.WalkingEaston.com entry for Old Lutheran Parsonage at 168 Northampton Street, and sources cited therein.  Rev. Franklin K. Fretz (Pastor, for the 175th Anniversary Committee), Historical Sketch of St. John’s Lutheran Church 22 (1915) indicates that the Parsonnage property was sold in 1816, but the deeds for the two portions of the property on Northampton Street were dated to 1817.  See Deed, German Evangelical Lutheran Congregation of Easton to George Bush, C4  278 (1 April 1817);  Deed, German Evangelical Lutheran Congregation of Easton to Jon O’Neil, C4  181 (1 April 1817).


� 	See Rev. Franklin K. Fretz (Pastor, for the 175th Anniversary Committee), Historical Sketch of St. John’s Lutheran Church 22 (1915).  Rev. Fretz indicates that the Parsonnage property was sold in 1816, but the deeds for the two portions of the property on Northampton Street were dated to 1817.  See Deed, German Evangelical Lutheran Congregation of Easton to George Bush, C4  278 (1 April 1817);  Deed, German Evangelical Lutheran Congregation of Easton to Jon O’Neil, C4  181 (1 April 1817).    


	Rev. Fretz’s authorship of the Historical Sketch, supra (which is not clear from the volume itself) is confirmed by Barbara Fretz Kempton, A History of St. John’s Evangelical Lutheran Congregation of Easton, Pennsylvania 1740-1940 132 (The John S. Correll Co., Inc. 1940).  Ms. Kempton also states (id.) that the printing costs were borne by Henry J. Steele and William J. Daub, who Rev. Fretz had identified (at p.3 of his Preface) only as members of the Anniversary Committee.   Ms. Kempton’s unnumbered title page makes it clear that she was Rev. Franklin K[line] Fretz’s daughter.  


� 	A Brief History & Architectural Tour of EASTON, PENNSYLVANIA, www.easton-pa.com/History/HistoricEaston.htm “St. John’s Lutheran Church” (accessed 2 Jan. 2005).  See also C.M. Sitgreaves (compiler), Resources and Industries of Easton, PA, South Easton, and Phillipsburg, N.J. at The Forks of the Delaware! 81 (Geo. W. West 1889).


� 	Barbara Fretz Kempton, A History of St. John’s Evangelical Lutheran Congregation of Easton, Pennsylvania 1740-1940 57 (The John S. Correll Co., Inc. 1940). 


� 	Barbara Fretz Kempton, A History of St. John’s Evangelical Lutheran Congregation of Easton, Pennsylvania 1740-1940 56 (The John S. Correll Co., Inc. 1940).  


� 	Aura Ceramics, model inscription.  Cf. Northampton County Tax Records, www.ncpub.org, which list an 1888 date for the current structure, suggesting that the remodeling took place at about that time.  


� 	Floyd Smith Bixler, The Vine and Background of Christian Bixler, 3rd and Some Collateral Branches 38 (typed by Edith Jane Stires, undated but text at 15 indicates written in 1930);  Scott Hill, A Self Guided Tour . . . Historic Forks of the Delaware 5 (Eagle Scout Project 29 Apr. 1992)(copies sold by Northampton County Historical & Genealogical Society);  Historic Easton, Inc., Historic Easton Spring Tour Site #11 (19 May 1984);  see Barbara B. Buchholz and Margaret Crane, Corporate Bloodlines: The Future of the Family Firm 80 (Carol Publishing Group 1989)(Bixler buried in “basement crypt”).      


� 	See Rev. Franklin K. Fretz (Pastor, apparently for the 175th Anniversary Committee), Historical Sketch of St. John’s Lutheran Church 21, 23 (1915)(distinguished orator);  Barbara Fretz Kempton, A History of St. John’s Evangelical Lutheran Congregation of Easton, Pennsylvania 1740-1940 60-61 (The John S. Correll Co., Inc. 1940).    


	Rev. Hecht resigned in 1845 (and was succeeded at St. John’s by a grandson of the “father of Lutheranism in the United States” Henry Melchoir Muhlenberg).  Dr. Hecht did continue some preaching in Easton at another location until his death in 1949.  The Christ Church pastor, Dr. Diehl, held a funeral service for him, and he was buried by permission in St. John’s graveyard.  See Kempton, A History of St. John’s, supra at 61-62;  Fretz, Historical Sketch of St. John’s Lutheran Church, supra at 25.


� 	Christ Evangelical Lutheran Church initially conducted services in the Methodist Church (briefly renamed the English Evangelical Lutheran Church of Easton), but they built and opened a new church building at 57 South 4th Street (at the NW corner with Ferry Street).  They continued at that site until 1968, when they consolidated with another Lutheran Church at Ferry and South 11th Streets, and Our Lady of Lebanon Maronite Catholic Church acquired the 4th Street building, which they replaced in 1986 with the new church that now stands on that site.  Leonard S. Buscemi, Sr., The 1992 Easton Calendar 43, 48 (Buscemi Enterprises 1991).    


� 	Kempton, A History of St. John’s, supra at 68-69 (and picture facing p.80);  see also Fretz, Historical Sketch of St. John’s Lutheran Church, supra (picture facing p.45).  But see City of Easton, Pennsylvania Historic Resource Survey Form, Attachment: Building Description Survey Area 1 Zone H (City Council Resolution approved 12 May 1982)(built c.1830). 


� 	City of Easton, Pennsylvania Historic Resource Survey Form, Attachment: Building Description Survey Area 1 Zone H (City Council Resolution approved 12 May 1982). 


� 	Deed, John Penn and William (Juliana Catharine) Penn to Frederick Wilhelm, C4  65 (19 June 1816).  


� 	Fretz, Historical Sketch of St. John’s Lutheran Church, supra at 29.  


� 	Kempton, A History of St. John’s, supra at 90. 


� 	Fretz, Historical Sketch of St. John’s Lutheran Church, supra at 29-30.  


� 	Kempton, A History of St. John’s, supra at 90 (plot donated by John Abel).  See generally separate entry for Two Rivers Landing at 30 Centre Square, and sources cited therein, for further detail on Peter Miller.  


	Although the basic bequest to the Lutheran and German Reformed charitable societies was upheld, Miller’s residuary heir (his nephew, also named Peter Miller) successfully challenged his uncle’s further provision that created a trust for the accumulation of trust income, for eventual use to build a hospital.  The Pennsylvania Supreme Court, in a landmark decision, voided this bequest as a violation of the legal “rule against perpetuities”.  Hillyard v. Miller, 10 Pa.State 326-38 (Pa.Sup.Ct. 1849);  see Kempton, A History of St. John’s Evangelical Lutheran Congregation, supra at 217 (decision established Pennsylvania law on trusts for the accumulation of income).  Nephew Miller’s lawyers in his successful will challenge were James Madison Porter (principal founder of Lafayette College) and Matthew Hale Jones, both of whom had mansions on North Third Street.  See generally separate entries for the Hotel Huntington at 5 North Third Street and the Parking Lot (formerly the Porter Mansion) at 53 North Third Street.  Nephew Miller died the next year (1850) in Ohio.  Henry F. Marx (compiler), II Marriages and Deaths Northampton County 1885-1902 Newspaper Extracts 808 (Easton Area Public Library 1929).  


� 	Leonard S. Buscemi, Sr., The 1995 Easton – Phillipsburg Calendar unnumbered page facing January calendar (Buscemi Enterprises 1994)(picture c.1910).


� 	Colin McEvoy, “Love bloomed at Taylor school”, Express-Times, Tues., 27 May 2008, p.B-1, at B-6 (picture);  see also Easton Is Home, Heritage Edition 14 (2001)(picture);  Ethan Allen Weaver, “The Forks of the Delaware” Illustrated  319 (Eschenbach Press 1900)(picture). 


� 	B.F. Fackenthal, Jr.,”The Homes of George Taylor, Signer of the Declaration of Independence”, Paper read before the George Taylor Chapter, Daughters of the American Revolution, at Easton, PA, 6 Dec. 1922 (copy at Northampton County Historical & Genealogical Society), obtained online from Penn State University Libraries, Digital Library Collections,  128.118.88.226/cdm4/page_text.php?CISOROOT=/digitalbks2&CISOPTR=21345&CISOBOX=0&OBJ=21391&ITEM=89 (copy begins at p.114), at 132-33 (accessed 17 Dec. 2008).    


� 	Leonard S. Buscemi, Sr., The 1995 Easton – Phillipsburg Calendar unnumbered page facing January calendar (Buscemi Enterprises 1994)(picture c.1910);  accord, Colin McEvoy, “Love bloomed at Taylor school”, Express-Times, Tues., 27 May 2008, p.B-1, at B-6. 


� 	Kempton, A History of St. John’s Evangelical Lutheran Congregation, supra at 235, 250-55, 257;  John C. Pohl, The Old Town Clock unnumbered p.4 (Northampton County Historical & Genealogical Society, April 2004).  


� 	Pohl, The Old Town Clock, supra;  see Scott Hill, A Self Guided Tour . . . Historic Forks of the Delaware 7 (Eagle Scout Project, 29 Apr. 1992).  


� 	Kempton, A History of St. John’s Evangelical Lutheran Congregation, supra at 118 (and picture facing p.128);  Fretz, Historical Sketch of St. John’s Lutheran Church, supra at 43 (and picture facing p.45).  


� 	Article, “Rocks Construction Takes Option On Mt. Jefferson – Pact Is conditions On Engineering Study For New Apartments”, Easton Express, Fri., 8 June 1962, p.1, cols.7-8.   





